RECEIVED

Sep 14 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONOVAN TIRRELL BRANNON,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000015

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability, “the hand of one is the hand of all,” since there was no evidence of any tacit or other agreement or plan to shoot at the decedent or the other man in the parking lot of the nightclub and the instruction on accomplice liability was therefore improper and prejudicial?

2.

Whether the court erred by allowing O’Brien Gilliam to testify that appellant was “making signs” with his hands on the dance floor on the night of the shooting since this was inadmissible evidence of gang activity in derogation of this Court’s holding in Johnson v. State 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d 896 (Ct. App. 2021), since there was no evidence gang activity was probative of the motive or the intent for the shooting having occurred?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the February 2016 term of the Lexington County grand jury for the offenses of murder and attempted murder. R. 1294. Appellant's case and that of co-defendant Shantrez Robertson on the same charges was called to trial on November 15, 2021 before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod IV, and a jury. Theo Williams and Hannah Williams represented appellant. David Mauldin represented co-defendant Robertson. R. 1

On November 19, 2021, the jury found appellant and co-defendant Robertson guilty of murder and attempted murder. R. 1274, 11.12-25. Appellant was sentenced to thirty-four years imprisonment for murder, and the judge imposed a concurrent sentence of thirty years for attempted murder. Co-defendant Robertson was sentenced to thirty-two years imprisonment for murder and thirty years concurrent for attempted murder. R. 1284, 1.23 – 1183, 1.17.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue one – Accomplice liability instruction: “In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

Issue two – Gang activity evidence: “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A pre-trial hearing was held on November 12, 2021, regarding, inter alia, objections to gang activity evidence. The solicitor claimed the “[d]efendants were in there [the club] throwing up gang signs and jumping around.” The solicitor added that Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d. 896 (Ct.App. 2021) held that gang evidence was admissible “[i]f there’s a motive or intent that connected that’s connected to gang activity, Your Honor, we do have some latitude in that in presenting it.” R. 18, l. 17 – 19, l. 24.¹

The judge responded that given Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d. 896 (Ct.App. 2021), his “[i]nclination is to limit it. Now, whether to eliminate it may not be practical, but . . .” R. 19, l. 25 – 20, l. 3. Counsel for co-defendant Robertson said there had been no evidence presented to the defense pre-trial indicating that the incident in this case was gang related. An argument or “scuffle” can occur without it being gang related. R. 21, l. 19 – 22, l. 2.

At the end of the hearing, the judge noted it was stipulated that Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d. 896 (Ct.App. 2021) was the applicable case which all of the attorneys agreed controlled his ruling on the admissibility of gang affiliation evidence. The judge deferred ruling, however. R. 111, l. 1 - 126, l. 22.

At trial, Brandon Jeffrey testified that he was thirty-years-old at the time of the June 6, 2015 shooting in The Spot “parking lot.”² R. 257, l. 8 – 258, l. 7. Jeffrey said that night he was “hanging with” the decedent, Tyrone Gantt a/k/a “Shine”; Andy Barnes a/k/a “Teddy P”; O’Brien Gilliam a/k/a “OB,” and his cousin, Dee Dee. R. 258, l. 8 - 260, l. 11.

¹ “Supp. Tr.” is the November 12, 2021

² The parking lot was at the top of the hill above the club on a dirt road in a very rural area of Lexington County.

Jeffrey said they were all playing Madden on the PlayStation when Dee Dee convinced them to go with her to a party at The Spot. R. 262, l.1 – 263, l. 17. They then went to The Spot. They parked at the top of the hill above The Spot in rural Lexington County. R. 263, ll. 21-24.

When they went to enter the club, the bouncer would not let the decedent, Gantt, enter. R, 264, ll. 11-16. Since the bouncers were patting people down for weapons, it was inferred that Gantt was carrying a gun and that is why he was not allowed to enter.

Gantt returned to the club a short time later and was allowed to enter. There would later be evidence the others thought Gantt had returned to the car and placed his gun there so that he would be allowed into the club. R. 264, l. 12 – 265, l. 10.

Jeffrey said he saw appellant, whom everyone called “Fresh,” at the club. He also saw co-defendant Robertson -- “Red Nose” -- inside the club the night. Jeffrey remembered that appellant talked to him, and he asked “What’s up, Pedro? We dapped up, what’s up, you know everything is everything. That’s how it went. That’s how I spoke to Fresh.” It was later explained that “dapped up” meant exchanging “high fives.” R. 267, ll. 5-13.

Jeffrey testified that he was bothered by people or a person “throwing up their signs” on the dance floor, and he did not like the “vibe” he was getting inside the club. Defense counsel objected to Jeffrey’s speculation about what was occurring, and the solicitor agreed to “move on.” R. 267, l. 1 – 268, l. 13

Jeffrey left the club. He remembered that “Gantt (a/k/a “Shine”) and Teddy P had already left.” R. 270, ll. 1-6. When they got to their car, Gantt was about to open the car door when “we heard a little chatter.” Jeffrey recalled that Gantt said: “Hold on, man; let me see what’s going on. So by that time, we was like, who y’all looking for? And Fresh (appellant) was like, ‘**you know we ain’t looking for you**’. Next thing you know, it start(s); like shots going everywhere.” Jeffrey

claimed appellant said, “where them pussy niggas at?” before this happened. Jeffrey said Red Nose (co-defendant Robertson) was with appellant and “both of them had pistols.” R. 272, ll. 2-14.

Jeffrey remembered that after appellant told Gantt they were not looking for him “shots started getting fired.” Jeffrey repeated that both appellant and co-defendant Robertson had guns in their hands. R. 274, l. 18 – 275, l. 6.

When the solicitor inquired about what clothes appellant and co-defendant Robertson were wearing that night, Jeffrey said appellant was wearing “a red bandanna shirt” and that co-defendant Robertson was wearing pants with stars on them.³ When the solicitor went to introduce a Facebook photograph, state’s exhibit #218, defense counsel Williams objected. Counsel said the photograph showed a gang sign, and it also showed appellant with alcohol in his hand. The solicitor said to the extent the photograph showed a gang sign or alcohol, she would redact out any display of a gang sign and the Bud Light bottle from the photograph. R. 292, l. 7 – 297, l. 5.

Even though the photograph was redacted, defense counsel continued his objection to the photograph. R. 297, ll. 1-5.

On cross-examination, Jeffrey said that he remembered appellant coming up the hill towards the parked cars and him speaking to Gantt. Gantt asked appellant what he was talking about, and appellant said, “not you.” The next thing Jeffrey remembered was “a bunch of shots ringing out.” R. 327, ll. 1-9. Jeffrey admitted he never saw appellant or co-defendant Robertson

³ Co-defendant Robertson’s attorney ridiculed any assertion that whatever happened was planned. He called Robertson’s pants -- “clown pants.” He told the jury “I don’t think if he pulled them up, they would get to his crotch, much less his waist. You saw that video in the store. They kept falling down. So the plan is we’re going to do an ambush and we’re going to go and Shantrez is going to trot up that hill wearing those pants. And then he’s going to run back down to the bottom lot and get the car and then drive up and come out of the car.” R. 1235, l. 17 – 1236, l. 4.

“raise a gun” before he heard these gunshots. R. 327, ll. 1-17. On direct examination, Jeffrey nonetheless contended “from my perspective, it was coming from them [appellant and co-defendant Robertson]. R. 304, ll. 18-25.

When all of the shooting started, Jeffrey was hit in the leg by one of the bullets. R. 329, ll. 3-19. Whenever he heard the gunshots, Jeffrey crawled underneath the Dodge Charger for cover. R. 342, ll. 8-13. Jeffrey maintained that he did not see decedent Gantt with a gun that night, but he admitted that he did not know who shot first. R. 343, l. 20 – 344, l. 15.

Jeffrey testified that he saw appellant and the co-defendant with guns in their hands. He recalled appellant telling him -- “We ain’t looking for you” -- immediately before the gunshots started. R. 348, l. 4 – 351, l. 18.

Batesburg-Leesville Police Officer Deepak Harpalani testified he was dispatched to the Creekview Apartments because a red car had pulled into the parking lot and an ambulance was needed for a gunshot victim from The Spot. It was 3:26 a.m. on June 6, 2015. R. 370, ll. 3-19.

Officer Harpalani remembered seeing appellant at the apartment complex early that morning. He remembered that appellant was “yelling and screaming.” Appellant was wearing “red shorts with some design.” However, Harpalani added he was not paying attention to what appellant was wearing because he was concerned with security at the apartment complex at that time. He did not want the scene to get out of control. R. 373, ll. 3-24.

There was evidence that forty-one shell casings were found after the shooting in the “parking lot” of The Spot. These shell casings had eight different “head stamps.” R. 471, l. 10-

476, l. 24. There was evidence that the gunshot residue swabs on appellant's hands were **negative** after he was detained following the shooting.⁴

Andy Barnes a/k/a "Teddy P," was at The Spot on the night of the shooting. Decedent Gantt a/k/a "Shine" was with him, as was Jeffrey. It was Dee Dee's idea to go to the club that night and Barnes followed her there. R. 599, ll. 20-24; R. 602, l.14 – 604, l.4.

Barnes remembered that one of the bouncers said Gantt had a gun in his possession and Gantt was not allowed to enter the club at that time. After Gantt left and apparently put his gun in the car, he returned to the club. He was patted down again, paid the cover charge, and entered the club. R. 605, l. 25 – 606, l. 25.

Barnes said he became concerned when appellant was "doing things with his hands" so he left the club. The judge sustained defense counsel's objection to Jeffrey's statement that he told others "them boys got them guns up in the club." R. 610, ll. 1-11.

Barnes testified when they got to their car at the top of the hill, he saw appellant coming up the hill "swinging a gun. Appellant alleged said: "Where them pussy motherfuckers at?" R. 616, ll.13-21; R. 617, ll. 5-16. At that point a burgundy Crown Vic or Marquis drove up and stopped right in front of appellant. Barnes recalled that Gantt asked appellant: "Who is you talking about?" The next thing Barnes heard was gunshots. R. 618, l. 6 – 619, l. 16.

Barnes admitted he did not see appellant shoot a gun that night. Barnes explained that after he heard the first shot, "I jumped in my car to grab my gun out of the glovebox." R. 620, l. 13 – 621, l. 9. Barnes maintained that he was "confident" that decedent Gantt did not fire his gun at anyone before he was shot. R. 620, l. 13 – 621, l. 20.

⁴ SLED Agent Tyler Sturkie testified the gunshot residue kit that was performed on appellant was negative. R. 866, ll. 10-14.

Barnes claimed after the shooting “some guy came behind me and was like, ‘man, let me get them guns, let me get them guns.’ So, I mean, I wasn’t thinking; I was in shock. *I just give him the gun.* He left and I stayed right there with Shine (decedent Gantt).” R. 625, ll. 1-9. (emphasis added).

Barnes maintained that he did not know the man he gave the guns to that evening. He claimed he later learned his name was “John Wayne,” and that John Wayne was appellant’s cousin. R. 625, ll. 1-21. Barnes later met Wayne at a hardware store, and he got the guns back from him at a local Hardee’s restaurant. R. 626, ll. 9-14. Those guns were then turned over to law enforcement. See State’s Exhibit 250 (SLED Firearms Report, Cartridge Case Summary). R. 1293.

SLED Agent Michelle Eichenmiller testified that the projectile removed from the decedent’s left arm during the autopsy was a nine-millimeter bullet. R. 690, ll. 14-20. Eichenmiller testified that forty-one shell casings were recovered from the parking lot of The Spot nightclub after the shooting R. 704, ll. 4-15. Eichenmiller thought there were four firearms involved in the shooting, but she could not conclusively state that only four guns were involved. R. 728, ll. 11-21.

The pathologist, Dr. Janice Ross, testified victim Gantt was very likely standing and was possibly bent over when he was fatally shot. Gantt was five-foot-seven, and he had a blood alcohol reading of .229, and marijuana in his system at the time of his death. R. 741, l. 19 – 752, l. 19.

Gang reference allowed

O’Brien Gilliam, “OB,” testified he was twenty-years-old at the time of the shooting at The Spot. R. 800, l. 7 – 801, l. 18. Gilliam said he was on the dance floor when he noticed appellant

was also on the dancefloor was moving his hands. Defense counsel objected to this testimony, but the judge overruled the objection.⁵ R. 805, l. 14 – 806, l. 9.

Gilliam then said that Brandon Jeffrey “came and got me, we left the club.” Gilliam recalled that Jeffrey looked worried at the time they left the club. R. 807, l. 4 – 808, l. 24

Gilliam said he saw appellant walking up the hill, and appellant said: “Where you pussy motherfuckers at?” Gilliam testified that appellant had a gun in his hand at the time, and there were three other people with appellant. R. 808, l. 13 - 809 l. 16. Appellant walked up to Gantt, and Gantt asked appellant: “Who he was talking about?” Gilliam said at this time he saw a “Crown Vic or a Marquis” pull up and stop. R. 810, l.11 – 812, l.3. Gilliam said he saw a man get out of the passenger side of the car. He was wearing a white shirt and “he was light-skinned.” R. 812, ll. 2-14. This man raised his hand and Gilliam heard gunshots. R. 812, l. 2 – 813, l. 20.

Gilliam “ducked and covered my ears.” R. 813, ll. 21-22. Gilliam grabbed his cousin, Jeffrey, and pulled him into the car. He then went to look for Gantt nearby but Gantt was dead. “So I just jumped in the car with them and we left.” R. 813, l. 21 – 815, l. 18.

Additional testimony

Anija Sales was the ex-girlfriend of co-defendant Robertson. R. 845, ll. 3-25. Sales admitted on June 8, 2015, two-days after the shooting that she sent Robertson a message that read, “Tonio [her cousin Antonio Stroman said]: y’all need to lay low. The detective said something about my name today.” R. 853, l. 21 – 854, l.2. Sales said she was just doing what her cousin

⁵ As argued *infra*, this contemporaneous objection was all that was necessary to preserve this issue for appeal. The context of the objection was obvious given the pre-trial motion to exclude this gang evidence, and the judge having discussed gang evidence with the attorneys during this pre-trial hearing. Further, defense counsel objected to similar gang tainted colored exhibits and gang type evidence throughout the trial.

Antonio Stroman told her to do, and she did not know the reason behind this “lay low” message. R. 854, ll. 3-12.

Antonio Stroman testified that he did not want to come to court to testify. He was under subpoena and had to appear. R. 876, l. 16 – 877, l. 1. Stroman said that he did not remember if he saw appellant or co-defendant Robertson at The Spot that fatal night. R. 903, ll. 11-18.

Stroman remembered that he got shot while leaving the parking lot of The Spot. R. 907, ll. 6-18. Appellant was in the car with him when he got shot. R. 909, ll. 1- 3; R. 912, l. 6 – 913, l. 20. When the solicitor asked Stroman to admit that he told law enforcement he went to the club that night with appellant and co-defendant Robertson, Stroman said, “sounds about familiar, but, like I said, it’s been so long ago, I don’t remember, ma’am.” R. 914, ll. 11-20.

The solicitor then called Lexington County Sheriff’s Investigator Todd Garrick. R. 932, l. 13 – 933, l. 16. Garrick testified he spoke with Antonio Stroman on two separate occasions. R. 933, ll. 17-20.

Garrick said he first talked to Stroman while Stroman was in the emergency room. Garrick said that Stroman first told him that he went to the club with appellant and the co-defendant. There were no signs of trouble and they left the club at approximately 2:50 a.m. While Stroman was driving away, he was shot in the neck. R. 935, l. 14 – 936, l. 24.

In Stroman’s second statement shortly thereafter, he told Garrick he was in his car alone leaving the parking lot when he heard gunshots “and then he heard Brannon [appellant] saying ‘woah, woah, woah, and then he [appellant] and Robertson got in the car.’” R. 938, ll. 1-5, Stroman told Garrick he did not see any guns at that time. While Stroman was driving he was shot. Stroman crawled into the backseat and appellant got in the front seat and drove them away. R. 937, l. 18 – 939, l.11

Garrick talked to Stroman a third time at Stroman's residence. R. 939, ll. 10-18. Garrick said Stroman told him that he arrived at the club with appellant and the co-defendant at midnight or twelve-thirty a.m. They rode together to the club in his burgundy Grand Marquis. "Stroman stated that they hung out at the club and there was no problems or fights while they were there." R. 940, ll. 3-11.

Stroman told Garrick he left alone at about 3:50 a.m. He did not see appellant or the co-defendant leave the club or see them walk up the hill. While Stroman was driving away he had to stop and wait for traffic. He then heard appellant yell: "Woah, woah, woah," and "then Fresh (appellant) and Red Nose (co-defendant Robertson) got in his car." While they were attempting to leave, Stroman heard gunshots and he heard "the back glass of his car break." Stroman realized he had been shot. "He stated he got out of his car and began yelling for help, and then got in the back seat of the car. Stroman stated that Fresh got into the driver's seat and Red Nose was in the back passenger seat." They then drove to Creekview Apartments. R. 940, l. 3- 941, l. 23.

Garrick admitted on cross-examination that he told Stroman at some point during these statements that he could be criminally charged if he did not tell the truth about what occurred. Garrick denied that he did not "like" Stroman's first statement. Garrick offered that Stroman's first statement did not "jive" with his information that he was receiving from other sources . R. 947, l. 20 – 948, l. 21.

Investigator Brannon Marthers of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department testified regarding various text messages around the time of the shooting. Marthers said that June 6, 2015, co-defendant Robertson sent a message to his girlfriend stating that he needed a place to "lay low" for a while. R. 1016, ll. 10-25; R. 1021, ll. 1-3.

Marthers admitted on cross-examination that a couple of weeks before trial the authorities had obtained an arrest warrant for Tyrese White in this murder and attempted murder case. Marthers acknowledged it took law enforcement five years to conclude that White was involved in whatever happened, and that White had not yet been arrested. R. 1048, l. 15 - 1088, l. 22.

Objection to the accomplice liability instruction

Counsel Williams moved for a directed verdict on behalf of appellant. Williams noted that the state had provided evidence that decedent Gantt was shot five times and that the bullet recovered from his shoulder “was ultimately determined **not** to have come from any of the guns in evidence.” The only gun that could be associated with appellant was a nine-millimeter Ruger and it was not that weapon either. R. 1169, l. 14 – 1171, l. 18. (emphasis added).

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