RECEIVED

Sep 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DONOVAN TIRRELL BRANNON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000015

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
(803) 785-8285
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

group to follow with guns and shoot Victim and Jeffrey and almost shoot other members of Victim's group. See Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. at 559, 860 S.E.2d at 701, *referencing* United States v. Gartmon, 146 F.3d 105, 1021 (D.C. Cir. 1998) ("Rule 403 does not provide a shield for defendants who engage in outrageous acts, permitting only crimes of Caspar Milquetoasts to be described fully to a jury. It does not generally require the government to sanitize its case, to deflate its witnesses' testimony, or to tell its story in a monotone.")

This limited testimony did not violate Rule 403

Because the evidence was carefully limited, relevant, and necessary to present to the jury what actually happened, it did not violate Rule 404(b) or Rule 403, SCRE, either. Great deference is granted a trial judge's decision regarding the probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence, with the trial judge only being reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. McCleod, 362 S.C. 73, 606 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Horton, 359 S.C. 555, 598 S.E.2d 279 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 261, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). As stated in Johnson:

Probative evidence always prejudices the opposing party by building a case against them; however, Rule 403 only forbids "unfair prejudice," and its balancing test enables the trial court to temper the risk that evidence will exert such a pull on the jurors' emotions that it overwhelms their ability to rationally and impartially weigh the evidence and apply the law to the facts. Mention of gangs summons a stigma of lawlessness, and Rule 403 requires exclusion of gang evidence if the prejudicial risk substantially outweighs the evidence's probative value. But the criminal docket is not crowded with cherubs, and the rules of evidence are not designed to airbrush all of human nature out of the picture presented to juries. See United States v. Gartmon, 146 F.3d 1015, 1021 (D.C. Cir. 1998) ("Rule 403 does not provide a shield for defendants who engage in outrageous acts, permitting only the crimes of Caspar Milquetoasts to be described fully to a jury. It does not generally require the government to sanitize its case, to deflate its witnesses' testimony, or to tell its story in a monotone.").

Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. at 560, 860 S.E.2d 701 (affirming admission of "gang evidence" over 404(b) and 403, SCRE objections); State v. King, *supra* (*res gestae* evidence is also subject to 403 analysis); Bolden, *supra* (same).

Brannon's other arguments are without merit and not actually raised on appeal

Brannon also argues in support of this issue that the State admitted other gang evidence, vaguely disguised; however, the record does not support this argument. There was no testimony in this case that Brannon was in a gang, what kind of gang he might have been in, how that gang operated, or his rank in any criminal gang. See Johnson v. State, *supra* (extensive gang evidence about make-up of gang, who was in the gang, and defendant's power in the gang was relevant and not unduly prejudicial where he ordered the hit on the victim); Robinson, 438 S.C. 421, 882 S.E.2d 883 (extensive gang evidence, make up of gangs, crimes committed by gangs, defendant's membership in criminal gang, and gang warfare was not relevant to crime committed and unduly prejudicial to defendant). In the present case, the State did offer a diagram, outside the presence of the jury. that the defense objected to, and the State changed a color scheme on part of the diagram from red to burgundy, the same color as the car the perpetrators came to the club in. The Solicitor stated on the record she did not mean to convey any gang affiliation or evil by the use of red on this diagram. The jury never saw the diagram until the color of that portion of the diagram was changed to burgundy. Victim's group was also portrayed in 2 different colors because they came in 2 different cars. Brannon also ignores pictures were admitted of him wearing a red shirt and red shoes; however, this is exactly what Brannon wore to the club as shown in the surveillance videos at the truck stop before the crimes, as described by eyewitnesses at the time of the shooting, as shown in the police cam video at Creekview Apartments, and in a photo of Brannon at the Sheriff's Office taken after his arrest. This showed Brannon's identity as 1 of the shooters, and Brannon chose to wear that particular clothing to the crime scene not the State. This evidence was relevant, and its probative value outweighed any prejudice as it identified Brannon as 1 of the perpetrators. Defense counsel also objected to the color red on any diagram for other reasons than

possibly inferring gang affiliation; defense counsel claimed red was the color of blood, evil, and danger. To protect Brannon or any co-defendant from any prejudice, photographs that were admissible for some specific reason, such as holding a gun consistent with that used at the crime scene, were redacted so that no gang reference, or any other prejudicial information was removed. Finally, Brannon does not raise the admission of any of this evidence on appeal to this Court. Brannon's argument in this regard is simply off base.¹⁵

Recent authority supports Respondent's position

Finally, since this trial, this Court issued its opinion in State v. Robinson, 438 S.C. 421, 882 S.E.2d 883 (2023); however, this present case is clearly distinguishable from Robinson. In Robinson, the State called numerous witnesses, including gang members, police officers, and gang experts in an attempt to establish Robinson was a gang member; there was a gang war going on between the defendant's gang and another gang; and, the shooting of the victim was related to this gang war. The State introduced extensive evidence of this gang war including crimes committed by others in which Robinson had no apparent connection and other crimes committed by Robinson. The evidence of Robinson's gang membership was tenuous at best. Many witnesses called by the State testified the defendant was not in fact a member of the gang. This Court reversed Robinson's conviction finding the gang evidence was irrelevant, where 3 co-defendants involved in the shooting testified the crime was not in retaliation for the gang war and the evidence of Robinson's gang membership was slight. The Court also found the prejudice to the defendant outweighed any probative value based on the record where there was so much gang evidence *and* his connection to the gang was slight. Robinson, 438 S.C. at 435-39, 882 S.E.2d at 890-92.

¹⁵ Brannon's argument is the trial judge erred only in allowing Barnes' testimony to the question objected to. (IBOA, p. 1 Statement of Issues on Appeal, Issue 2 & IBOA p. 21, ll. 1-5).

As previously stated, in the present case the State did not call 1 single witness to testify Brannon was in a gang or was a member of a gang. The State did not introduce any evidence his co-defendants were in a gang. The State did not introduce evidence of prior crimes committed by criminal gangs as in Robinson. The State did not introduce any evidence there was a gang war going on. No expert was called to describe the structure of any gang and what rank or power Brannon or his co-defendants had in any gang. Simply put, what was offered here was simply what occurred inside the club that caused Victim and his group to flee the club and try to leave the upper parking lot in their cars and Brannon and his co-defendants to follow them and shoot them, i.e. the motive and intent for the shooting. This evidence is relevant to the issues on trial, probative to a relevant issue in the case, and its probative value was not substantially outweighed by any prejudice or danger of prejudice to Brannon. King, supra. If Judge McCleod actually ruled on this issue, and it was not an agreement of the parties, it is clear he carefully followed this Court's admonition in both Johnson and Robinson to carefully consider gang evidence before admitting such. Robinson, 438 S.C. at 438, 882 S.E.2d at 892; Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. at 560. Robinson actually supports Respondent's position because the only *limited evidence* testified to was what occurred in the club that triggered the tragic events that followed.

Harmless Error/Lack of Prejudice

Even assuming *arguendo* error by Judge McCleod, it would be harmless where this minimal testimony was cumulative and the same to other unobjected to testimony of 2 eyewitnesses properly admitted and the unobjected to testimony of the last eyewitness. State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 409-410, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015)(*citations omitted*); State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence); *see also* State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 463,

469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996)(error in admission of evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence which is properly admitted). Here, even if this Court somehow considered this issue preserved for appeal, the answer to this specific question was cumulative to the eyewitness testimony of Jeffrey and Barnes that was not objected to.¹⁶ Both witnesses testified to the fact they left the club because of what occurred on the dance floor with O.B. where he found himself in the middle of Brannon's group making signs with their hands. Further, the jury heard the Solicitor's opening statement which referenced the very same testimony without objection. The Solicitor explained Victims group left the club immediately before the crimes because Brannon and his group were making signs with their hands. And, the last eyewitness, O.B. testified before the objected to question, that Brannon was on the dance floor doing things with his hands. Putting all of this together, the jury would have known based on un-objected to testimony that Victim's group left the club because Brannon and his group were making signs with their hands and Brannon showed Jeffrey a gun in the bathroom when Jeffrey tried to apologize for O.B.

An appellate court will affirm a conviction if it concludes a trial error was harmless. *See State v. McWee*, 322 S.C. 387, 472 S.E.2d 235 (1996); *State v. Benning*, 338 S.C. 59, 524 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 1999). An error is harmless only when it could not reasonably have affected the result of trial. *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995); *State v. Charming*, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993). Even an error of constitutional magnitude, which this would not be, may be harmless if, considering the entire record on appeal, the reviewing court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. *State v. Clute*, 324 S.C. 584, 480

¹⁶ In his brief, Brannon admits he only objected during trial to the admission of the last eyewitness' testimony in response to 1 specific question. (IBOA, pp, 21-22). He did not object to the Solicitor's opening statement or to Jeffrey's or Barnes's testimony on the very same topic, or O.B.'s testimony to the preceding question. (IBOA)

S.E.2d 85 (Ct. App. 1996). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless when guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Here the unobjected to testimony from Jeffrey, Barnes, and O.B. establishes the same facts objected to, and the rest of the evidence establishes Brannon's guilt such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Even if Judge McCleod erred, it would be harmless, because beyond a reasonable doubt it did not affect the verdict. Bailey, *supra*. The evidence established after the incident inside the club, Victim's group was followed up the hill by Brannon and Robertson. Following them was a burgundy Grand Marquis which stopped when Brannon and Robertson stopped. All eyewitnesses identified Brannon as carrying gun and instigating the conflict with Victim's group by walking up the hill swinging a gun and stating to them: "Where them pussy MF's at?" or something similar. This is the same Brannon who witnesses testified earlier was part of the group making signs with their hands on the dance floor and got upset with O.B. and Jeffrey. Brannon also showed Jeffrey a gun in the bathroom after Jeffrey apologized to him for O.B. barging into his group on the dance floor. At the top of the hill, another person Tyrese White got out of the Grand Marquis with a gun. When Victim asked Brannon who he was talking about, it was Brannon who responded, and it was Brannon who opened fire with his gun. It was Brannon's gun, [if the 3 perpetrators did not switch guns], the 9mm Ruger, that shot 5 shots and left 5 shell casings. At the same time, Robertson and White, fired multiple shots as well. Victim was shot 5 times and killed by this group of men including Brannon, Robertson, and White, acting together. Two (2) of the perpetrators walked up the hill together swinging guns, and another followed in the car and got out when it stopped and opened fire at the same time as the other 2 perpetrators. Brannon was captured on video at the truck stop before arriving at the club with his co-defendants

and Stroman and Stroman's car. Brannon was again captured on video after he arrived at Creekview Apts. after the crimes with a wounded Stroman, where Brannon tried hide the 9mm Ruger. Brannon was also arrested there with Stroman who drove the burgundy Grand Marquis until he was shot by Barnes. An eyewitness saw 2 other men get out of the burgundy car and leave Creekview Apts. Stroman admitted Brannon and Robertson left the crime scene in his car with him, and Stroman had to get Brannon to drive to Creekview Apts. after he was shot. The CSLI for the phone Brannon was carrying also placed him at the crime scene at the time of the crime and with his co-defendants. A photo was also posted online before the shooting, where Brannon was displaying a 9mm Ruger. And text messages were introduced showing Robertson advertising a 9mm Smith and Wesson pistol before the crimes. Phone records and texts also showed Brannon, Robertson, White, and Stroman were communicating the day of the crime, stopped communicating by phone at the time they went to the club and during the shooting, and resumed communicating shortly after the crimes were committed. Phone records and texts also showed Brannon's associates communicated with each other after his arrest and discussed hiding out during the investigation. As a result, because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the cumulative nature of the objected to evidence, any error in admitting the same was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993)(same); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989)(same); State v. Broaddus, 361 S.C. 534, 542, 605 S.E.2d 579, 583–84 (Ct. App. 2004)(error in admission of prior bad acts was harmless where it was cumulative to other unobjected-to testimony at trial regarding the same bad acts); Kirton, 381 S.C. at 38, 671 S.E.2d at 122–23; State v. Richardson, 358 S.C. 586, 596–97, 595 S.E.2d 858, 863 (Ct. App. 2004)(even if improper “character evidence,”

any error in its admission was harmless where it was cumulative to other similar testimony admitted without objection); *see also* State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 555 (Ct. App. 2001); *compare* Robinson, *supra* at 438-39 (evidence not harmless where it was not cumulative, the State introduced voluminous gang evidence, and put defendant on trial for being in a gang and for gang activity in his neighborhood).

Finally, Brannon's admissions at sentencing make any admission of this limited testimony harmless. While he claimed the crimes did not occur as the State's evidence showed, Brannon admitted at sentencing he was present at the time of the shootings, participated in the shootings, and apologized to the family of the deceased victim. (R. 1281, ll. 2-15). State v. Sroka, 267 S.C. 664 (1976)(Defendant's guilt was shown conclusively by the record and any error could not have been prejudicial; and any doubt about the correctness of that conclusion was eliminated by admission of defendant in open court, after conviction, and during presentence inquiry, that he participated in the crime. Further review of the record is unnecessary); State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 692 S.E.2d 560 (2010).

CONCLUSION

For all the above stated reasons, this Court should affirm Brannon's convictions.